IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI No. 2012-IA-00166-SCT

CHARLES HOOKER, DAVID GATLIN, NATHAN KERN AND ANTHONY MCCRAY Appellants-Defendants

v.

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI, EX REL. THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI Appellee-Plaintiff

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS CHARLES HOOKER, DAVID GATLIN, NATHAN KERN AND ANTHONY MCCRAY

INTERLOCUTORY APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI, FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT HONORABLE TOMIE GREEN, SENIOR CIRCUIT JUDGE, PRESIDING

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether the trial court's assertion of subject matter jurisdiction comports with the textual dictates of the Mississippi Constitution, including the separation of powers, which establish that the power to grant reprieves and pardons is vested exclusively in the Governor?
- 2. In the alternative, whether any insufficiency of publication under Section 124 would constitute harmless constitutional error for which no remedy would lie?
- 3. In the further alternative, whether the trial court erred in refusing to dismiss the matter for lack of standing and/or improper joinder under Rule 20 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure.
- 4. In the further alternative, whether the trial court erred in re-assigning this matter away from the Judge to whom it was originally randomly assigned.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellants-Defendants are four former felons convicted under the laws of the State of Mississippi. Each one was housed on the grounds of the Governor's Mansion and working as Mansion trusties when then Governor Haley Barbour formally pardoned all four Defendants on January 6, 2012. (R. 287-89, R.E. 91-93). The State of Mississippi released them ("the Four Released Defendants") from its custody on January 8, 2012. Governor Barbour's term of office ended at 12 noon on January 10, 2012, when Governor Bryant took his oath of office.

On or about January 11, 2012, State Attorney General Jim Hood filed suit in the First Judicial District of Hinds County Circuit Court seeking to nullify the pardons of the Four Released Defendants as well as the pardons given to 200 other former state felons. By implication, General Hood sought the return of the Four Released Defendants to the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections ("MDOC") and to prevent the release of five other pardoned felons who were in the custody of MDOC and who remain incarcerated even today. (R. 11, R.E. 36).

The Complaint alleges there is "reason to believe that some or all of the individuals" receiving pardons had "failed to publish sufficient notice" in an appropriate newspaper of their respective petitions for a pardon. (R. 14, R.E. 39). General Hood alleges that this failure to publish sufficient notice violates Section 124 of the Constitution of the State of Mississippi. Although the case had been randomly assigned after filing to Circuit Judge Weil, Senior Circuit Judge Green entered an Order of Re-Assignment which moved the case to her docket. (R. 62, R.E. 24).

On January 11, 2012, without notice to any of the Four Released Defendants, General Hood appeared before Senior Circuit Judge Green and requested a Temporary Restraining Order.¹ At the hearing, the Attorney General did not present any proof that the Four Released Defendants' pardons were invalid. Instead, he simply stated that he did not possess information sufficient to satisfy himself that all of the pardons were valid (under his legal theory and interpretation of Section 124's publication provision), thus improperly and bizarrely forcing the *absent* Defendants to carry the burden of negating his lack of factual allegations. (*Tr. 01/11/12*, p. 13 lines 23-28; p. 7 line 9 through p. 11 line 8; p. 11 line 27 through p. 12 line 2; and p. 20 line 20 through p. 21 line 5, R.E. 176-78 and 185-86).

At the TRO hearing, Special Assistant Attorney General David K. Scott represented Defendant Christopher Epps, Commissioner of the MDOC. Despite being the only "defense" counsel present, Mr. Scott was unable to identify even one legal argument to be made on behalf of his client and in opposition to his employer, including, for example, that certain inmates who received pardons were still in the custody of MDOC and had not been served and that MDOC itself had requested publication of the Section 124 notices in the applicable newspapers for the five trusties whom Governor Barbour pardoned and MDOC had released from its custody. When Judge Green asked Mr. Scott if he had had an opportunity to review the Complaint, he responded only "I've briefly reviewed it," (*Tr. 01/11/12*, p. 5 lines 6-8, R.E. 170), and stated no opposition: "Your Honor, the Commissioner doesn't contest the petition and relies on the wise judgment of the Court in making a ruling on that." (*Tr. 01/11/12*, p. 32 lines 9-12, R.E. 197).

Mr. Scott was unable even to speak up to tell the Court the whole truth, of which he had

¹ Per the Order that was issued, the Four Released Defendants were given no notice because "their locations are unknown at this time." The Attorney General, however, did not represent to the Court that any effort had been made to contact them. To the contrary, he explained exactly how he would contact the Four Released Defendants – after the hearing. (*Tr. 01/11/12*, p. 12 lines 11-18, R.E. 177). After the hearing the Attorney General was in fact able to contact the Four Released Defendants to serve the TRO. The Four Released Defendants allege that it was not at all impractical for the Attorney General to give notice to the Four Released Defendants, and that there was no proper excuse for failing to do so, nor for the Circuit Court's failure to insist upon notice.

personal knowledge, on a key point of his employer's argument. The Attorney General began his presentation to the Court by blaming then Governor Barbour for the alleged insufficient notice. (*Tr. 01/11/12*, p. 6, lines 7-11, R.E. 171). Yet, as Mr. Scott personally knew, the Attorney General had in fact undertaken the express responsibility to publish notice on behalf of the Four Released Defendants. Mr. Scott had actual knowledge of this fact because it was he, personally, as Special Assistant Attorney General, who voluntarily undertook that responsibility on their behalf. *See* Affidavit of C. Daryl Neely (R. 533, R.E. 159) attesting to accuracy of text messages between himself and Mr. Scott (R. 506, R.E. 132). Rather than inform Judge Green of his personal involvement, Mr. Scott stated only that "the Department was instructed to go ahead and publish notification on the individuals who were still in custody." (*Tr. 01/11/12*, p. 21 line 18 through p. 22 line 5, R.E. 186-87). Mr. Scott's statement can hardly be regarded as an illustration of candor to the Court. *See also Tr. 01/11/12*, p. 24 lines 14-23 wherein Mr. Scott represents to the Court that MDOC relied on the Governor to ensure timely publication. (R.E. 189).

Despite General Hood's admitted lack of evidence, Judge Green granted the TRO. (R. 43, R.E. 11). Although styled a "restraining" order, the TRO is also a mandatory injunction, directing that Defendants (a) "shall obtain and provide plaintiff and the Court documented and sufficient proof" of compliance with Section 124, as interpreted by the Attorney General; (b) appear for a preliminary injunction hearing on January 23; and (c) contact MDOC "every 24 hours to provide accurate information on their exact locations and any plans to travel beyond their homes."

Following entry of the TRO, General Hood filed a First Amended Verified Complaint. (R. 63, R.E. 52). The First Amended Complaint added as named defendants the five pardoned defendants who were then and are now still in the custody of the MDOC, viz., Katherine Robertson, Kirby Glenn Tate, Aaron Brown, Joshua L. Howard, and Azikiwe Kambule. This new pleading also alleged dates and locations of the publication of notice by some of the named Defendants. In response, the Four Released Defendants filed two motions: 1) Special Appearance for Purposes of Motion to Transfer and/or Motion to Dismiss (including a separately filed Supplement); and 2) Motion to Disqualify the Office of the Attorney General. (R. 177, 184, 442).

On the day of the January 23 hearing, General Hood filed a Motion to Extend Temporary Restraining Order and for Preliminary Injunction. (R. 330). At the hearing, the trial court extended the TRO for another 11 days and set a hearing on the motion for preliminary injunction for February 3, 2012 at 1:00 p.m. When doing so, the trial court made clear that it was by-passing the issues of jurisdiction, separation of powers, standing or the other defenses of the Four Released Defendants and that it would go directly to compliance with the 30-day publication provision. (*Tr. 01/23/12*, p.38, R.E. 242). The Order denying the motion to dismiss held that the Complaint did not infringe on the Governor's power to pardon and that the burden of proving proper publication would be on each pardoned Defendant. (R. 495, R.E. 27).

The following day the trial court entered its order denying the motion to disqualify General Hood and Special Assistant Scott. (R. 493, R.E. 25). The trial court entered on January 25 an order denying the motion to transfer or dismiss. (R. 494, R.E. 26). That same day, the Four Released Defendants filed a Response to and Joinder in the Motion for Leave to Submit Amicus Curiae Brief filed earlier on behalf of Haley Barbour, in his capacity as the Governor of Mississippi at the time of the events alleged in the Complaint. (R. 496, R.E. 122). The trial court entered its written order extending the TRO on January 26. (R. 540, R.E. 28).² Finally, on

² The trial court later entered an "Order of Clarification Regarding Named Defendants and the Court's Prior Order Permitting Amendments for Does 1-200" (R. 542, R.E. 30) and a "Supplemental Order Extending Temporary Restraining Order" (R. 546, R.E. 34).

January 27, the Four Released Defendants filed their Answer and Defenses. (R. 548). Defendants then sought, and obtained from this Court, a stay of the trial court proceedings and permission to appeal the interlocutory orders of the trial court.³

³ The same day the Supreme Court of Mississippi entered its stay of the proceedings in the trial court, General Hood hand-delivered a letter to Judge Green attaching a document purporting to be a "proposed stipulation." *See* Appendix A hereto. Contrary to the commonly accepted and understood practice, neither General Hood who signed the letter nor any of his Special Assistants who are counsel of record in these proceedings had first submitted the "proposed stipulation" to any of counsel for the Four Released Defendants or any of the counsel for the five pardoned and incarcerated defendants before sending the letter to Judge Green. When General Hood or his Special Assistant hand delivered the February 1 letter to Judge Green, he mailed the letter and enclosed stipulation to counsel opposite through the U.S. Postal Service.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Governor has exclusive and absolute authority to grant clemency pursuant to Section 124 of the Mississippi Constitution. In pertinent part, Section 124 also states that "no pardon shall be granted until the applicant therefor shall have published for thirty days, in some newspaper in the county where the crime was committed, ... his petition for pardon." However, the Governor, alone, can determine the "sufficiency of the facts" underlying each pardon. Montgomery v. Cleveland, 98 So. 111, 114 (Miss. 1923); Pope v. Wiggins, 69 So. 2d 913 (Miss. 1954). Therefore, the particular manner or number of days a specific pardonee may have published is not subject to judicial review. See State v. Metts, 88 So. 525, 530 (Miss. 1921) (Ethridge, J., dissenting). In denying the Four Released Defendants' motion to dismiss, the circuit court failed to give due deference to the important constitutional principle of separation of powers. Contrary to the trial court's assertions, this is not a simple case about counting the days of publication. Rather, this case is about whether the judicial branch may hear a claim seeking a remedy (to invalidate the pardons granted by the Governor based on General Hood's interpretation of Section 124) which does not exist under the Constitution or laws of this State and which violates Section 124 and the Separation of Powers provisions of the State Constitution.

Section 124 makes plain that the 30-day publication provision calls for constructive notice only, neither requiring a summons, nor creating a *right* for any respondent to be heard. There is no enabling legislation giving jurisdiction to the courts to enforce the publication provision or providing for any penalties for non-compliance. The remedies available for a violation of Section 124 are only those defined by the text of the Constitution, namely: impeachment of the Governor, election (or defeat) of the Governor, and amendment of the Constitution.

7

Even if the publication provision is subject to judicial enforcement, which it is not, the plain language of Section 124 references publication *only where there is an applicant*. The Four Released Defendants served as Mansion trusties and none ever applied to Governor Barbour or the Mississippi Parole Board for a pardon. Because the Governor initiated the exercise of his constitutional pardon power, the Four Released Defendants were not required to publish anything. Last, any alleged insufficiency of the publication that MDOC undertook on behalf of the Four Released Defendants would amount to harmless constitutional error under *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 22 (1967), and its progeny, in this erroneous attempt by General Hood to make a collateral attack on their pardons and have them set aside in a subsequent civil action. Even were the trial court with the authority to do so (and it is not), General Hood should not be entitled to void the pardons entirely because of an alleged constitutional violation unless he can show that the violation resulted in actual prejudice.

The Order denying the Defendants' Motion to Transfer or Dismiss should also be reversed on the basis of a lack of standing and improper joinder. General Hood, acting on behalf of the State, fails to demonstrate any particularized adverse effect from the issuance of the pardons. *See, Hall v. City of Ridgeland*, 37 So. 3d 25 (Miss. 2010). Equally fatal to the Plaintiff's pleading is its effort to bring a de facto class suit against some 200 pardon recipients, each of whom has a different set of underlying facts regarding the pardon process. This misjoinder of claims violates Rule 20 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure

The trial court also erred in denying Defendants' request to have this matter transferred back to the Judge to whom it was originally randomly assigned. By re-assigning the case to herself, the trial court judge who heard all of the motions and entered all of the orders violated the Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court which require random assignment. Therefore, in the alternative, Defendants request that all orders entered by the trial court be set aside and the matter be remanded with instructions that it be returned to the docket of the originally assigned Circuit Judge.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure raises issues of law. *T.M. v. Noblitt*, 650 So. 2d 1340, 1342 (Miss.1995). Thus, review by the appellate court should be *de novo. Young v. N. Miss. Med. Ctr.*, 783 So. 2d 661 (Miss. 2001).

ARGUMENT

I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT'S ASSERTION OF SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION COMPORTS WITH THE TEXTUAL DICTATES OF THE MISSISSIPPI CONSTITUTION, INCLUDING THE SEPARATION OF POWERS, WHICH ESTABLISH THAT THE POWER TO GRANT REPRIEVES AND PARDONS IS VESTED EXCLUSIVELY IN THE GOVERNOR?

A. Constitutional Text Dictates the Result

The act of granting a pardon has been entrusted by the people under Section 124 of the Constitution of the State of Mississippi to the Governor as the chief executive officer. The Judiciary does not have the authority under the Constitution to review the actions taken by another branch of government, including the Chief Executive, with respect to discharge of duties that the Constitution grants exclusively to that other branch. Miss. Const. §§ 1-2 (1890). *See, e.g., Tuck v. Blackmon,* 798 So. 2d 402 (Miss. 2001); *Pope v. Wiggins,* 69 So. 2d 913 (Miss. 1954); *Montgomery v. Cleveland,* 98 So. 111, 114 (1923); *State v. Metts,* 88 So. 525, 530 (Miss. 1921) (Ethridge, J., dissenting).

The framers of the Mississippi Constitution of 1890 were familiar with the sound principle of separation of powers, which was part of the positive law of Mississippi when the present Constitution was adopted, and is explicitly enshrined in Sections One and Two of the State Constitution. *Compare Hunt v. Wright*, 11 So. 608 (Miss. 1892), *with Ex Parte Wren*, 63 Miss. 512 (1886). Had the framers of the Constitution believed that the 30-day notice provision of Section 124 was to be treated as a substantive limitation on the clemency power, or that any review by the State Judicial or Legislative Departments of an applicant's compliance was permitted, the framers would have expressly provided for such review just as they expressly provided for senate review of the exercise of the clemency power in cases of treason. Miss. Const. § 124 (1890).

Appellant respectfully submits that it is highly instructive that the non-justiciability of the publication clause in Section 124 has been specifically discussed by the foremost Constitutional

scholar in the history of the State. George H. Ethridge, author of *Mississippi Constitutions* (1928), served on this Court from 1916 until 1941. As Justice Ethridge explained in clear, concise and unmistakable language, a Court may not review compliance with the publication language in Section 124:

The Governor has many questions to decide in the performance of his duties, and his decisions on these questions are final and conclusive on the other departments of the Government. For instance, he is limited in granting a pardon to such cases as where publications have been made for 30 days in a newspaper of the county, but his decision as to whether the publication was made is not open to judicial review.

State v. Metts, 88 So. 525, 530 (Miss. 1921) (Ethridge, J., dissenting).

Put another way, whether or not a person being considered for a pardon has given appropriate notice is a matter about which the Governor is the sole judge for it goes to the "sufficiency of the facts and the propriety of granting the pardon" *Montgomery v. Cleveland*, 98 So. at 114.

Contrary to the arguments put forth on behalf of the State by General Hood, application by this Court of Sections One and Two of the Constitution (the separation of powers doctrine) does not effectively "read" the publication clause out of Section 124. The publication portion of the text is alive and well, and there are remedies for a violation. However, the only remedies available for such a violation are remedies <u>under the Constitution</u>. The Constitution provides three. First, the Executive may be impeached by the House of Representatives. Miss. Const. § 49 *et seq.* (1890). Secondly, the people may elect an executive who shares their view on the proper exercise of the pardon power. Miss. Const. §§ 116 & 252 (1890). Third, the people may amend Section 124. Miss. Const. § 273 (1890). Any other remedy, such as invalidation of the pardon by judicial review, is beyond the framework of our Constitution and should be rejected.

1. Detailed review of Separation of Powers Doctrine and Section 124

The three distinct branches of State government are defined in Section One and Two of the Constitution of the State of Mississippi (1890), which also set forth the strict separation of powers principle of our state government. In the eloquent language of the Nineteenth Century, the framers explain that the executive, legislative, and judicial departments shall be, "each of them confided to a separate magistracy." See Miss. Const. § 1 (1890). Section Two elaborates on the separation of powers, stating that no one branch "shall exercise any power properly belonging to either of the others." See Miss. Const. § 2 (1890). This Court noted the essential critical nature of these provisions in Alexander v. State By and Through Allain, 441 So. 2d 1329 (Miss. 1983). In rejecting a legislative encroachment on executive powers, this Court stressed that the separation of powers doctrine is not only made explicit in our Constitution (unlike the implicit doctrine in the Constitution of the United States), but it is prominently placed in Article 1, Sections 1-2. There can be no debate of the need to vigorously protect this well-entrenched fundamental precept of our Government. See Limbert v. Mississippi University for Women Alumnae Ass'n Inc., 998 So. 2d 993 (Miss. 2008) (holding that as long as executive agency acted within the scope of its authority, trial court was precluded by separation of powers from reviewing agency's implementation of its own policies).

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