IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2012-IA-00166-SCT

IN RE: CHARLES HOOKER, DAVID GATLIN, NATHAN KERN, AND ANTHONY MCCRAY

ATTORNEY GENERAL JIM HOOD'S BRIEF ON INTERLOCUTORY APPEAL

JIM HOOD, MS BAR NO ATTORNEY GENERAL
MEREDITH M. ALDRIDGE, MS BAR NO BRIDGETTE W. WIGGINS, MS BAR NO ALEXANDER KASSOFF, MS BAR NO.
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEYS GENERAL

Office of the Attorney General Post Office Box 220 Jackson, Mississippi 39205 Telephone No. (601) 359-3680 Facsimile No. (601) 359-2003

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

- In State ex rel. Maurer v. Sheward, the Ohio Supreme Court held: "Even though courts may not review the substantive decision of the Governor on whether to exercise elemency in a particular case, courts may consider whether constitutionally authorized limitations on the elemency power have been respected. . . . An attempted pardon that is granted without adherence to constitutionally authorized requirements is invalid and is not immune to challenge." State ex rel. Maurer v. Sheward, 644 N.E.2d 369, 373 n.3 (Ohio 1994).
- In Anderson v. Commonwealth, the Kentucky Supreme Court stated, "And it is outside the power of the courts to alter or expand upon the Governor's [pardon] order where the executive order itself does not otherwise violate the Constitution." Anderson v. Commonwealth, 107 S.W.3d 193, 196 (Ky. 2003). Logically, it follows that the Anderson court considered itself empowered to review whether a pardon order violated the Constitution.
- In Jamison v. Flanner, the Kansas Supreme Court explained, "When the court's attention is called to the pardon it will not inquire into the motives which prompted the pardoning official to issue the pardon, for to do so would be to usurp the pardoning power; but the court will inquire into the authority of the pardoning official to issue the particular pardon in question" Jamison v. Flanner, 228 P. 82, 85 (Kan. 1924). The court held that commutation of a sentence granted without the notice required by law was void, although it was apparently valid on its face. The decision listed over sixty cases in which the validity of a pardon has been reviewed by courts and concluded that "[p]erhaps this list is not complete, but it is sufficient at least to show the variety of the proceedings in which the courts have been called upon to pass upon the authority of the pardoning official and the validity of pardons and to construe their effect." Id.

The Appellants have previously relied on three cases, but none supports the proposition that the judiciary is prohibited from reviewing whether the pardon power has been exercised within its constitutional limitations. In *State v. Kirby*, 51 So. 811 (Miss. 1910), the sole issue was whether the legislature may impose restrictions on the Governor's pardon authority in addition to those already found in Section 124. The court said no; the only restrictions are those imposed by Section 124. That proposition, true as it is, does not assist Appellants because the issue in *this case* — the publication requirement — is imposed directly by the Constitution and not by statute.

Appellants have also cited *Pope v. Wiggins*, 69 So. 2d 913 (Miss. 1954). In *Pope*, the Governor had issued a conditional suspension of a sentence (it was not a case about a pardon). *Id.* at 913-14. The Governor could revoke the elemency upon violation of a condition. *Id.* at 914. The decision whether to revoke, like the discretionary decision whether to grant, is not subject to judicial review. The provisions in Section 124 that limit the Governor's power to issue pardons were not at issue. Again, there is a critical distinction between the Governor's absolute power to decide the merits of a pardon application, and the Governor's utter lack of power to act in derogation of Section 124's requirements. Any claim that *Pope* supports the proposition that the Governor's exercise of the pardon power is immune from judicial review betrays a lack of understanding of that distinction.¹¹

So too with *Montgomery v. Cleveland*, 98 So. 111 (Miss. 1923), another case the Appellants cited. Consider the subject under discussion in *Montgomery*: "[H]e is the sole judge of the sufficiency of the facts and of the propriety of granting the pardon" *Id.* "When a proper application is presented to the Governor, he is under duty to consider it; he has power to consider it" *Id.* "[I]f the application is meritorious, he grants the pardon; if it is otherwise, he refuses it." *Id.* This entire discussion was about the Governor's power under Section 124 to evaluate pardon applications, consider the merits, and decide whether to grant or deny elemency. It had nothing to do with the alleged, though in fact non-existent, power of the Governor to issue a pardon without regard to Section 124's limitations.

¹¹ Perhaps part of the confusion stems from the term "conditions." In *Pope*, the term refers to conditions the Governor, at his discretion, may attach to an act of clemency. It has nothing to do with the conditions that the Governor must meet under Section 124 to issue a valid pardon. The Governor has complete discretion with regard to the former, but none with regard to the latter.

There is one dissent in a Mississippi case which, at first glance, may seem to lend support to the Appellants' position. But it is easily distinguishable. In *State v. Metts*, 88 So. 525, 527 (Miss. 1921), this Court held that the Governor's "demotion" of Oxford from a city to a town violated state statutes and was invalid. The dissenting opinion of a lone justice contained the following dicta:

The Governor has many questions to decide in the performance of his duties, and his decisions on these questions are final and conclusive on the other departments of the Government. For instance, he is limited in granting a pardon to such cases as where publications have been made for 30 days in a newspaper of the county, but his decision as to whether the publication was made is not open to judicial review.

Id. at 530 (Ethridge, J., dissenting). This view was not shared by the other justices, none of whom joined the dissent. In fact, the majority in *Metts* declared that the judiciary had the authority to review a Governor's acts and declared that the Governor acted in violation of state law. Id. The dissenting opinion cited no Mississippi law, or any other authority, for support. It was pure dicta. And it is contrary to all the existing law explained in the preceding paragraphs. Interestingly, seven years after *Metts*, in his treatise *Mississippi Constitutions*, Justice Ethridge had this to say about Section 124: "His [the governor's] power to grant pardons is full and complete when the conditions imposed by the Constitution are complied with." George H. Ethridge, *Mississippi Constitutions* (1928) (emphasis added).

The Appellants' previous filings ignore the obvious distinction between reviewing the wisdom of a pardon and reviewing the constitutionality of the Governor's action. But they cannot overcome the important public safeguard embodied in the conclusion that "judicial authority extends to the determination of whether, in a given case, the pardoning power has been validly exercised." 65 A.L.R. 1471.

D. Appellants' arguments that the State, citizens, and the judiciary are powerless to enforce the terms of Section 124 because it is a mere "procedural rule" subject to a "harmless error" standard or other defenses are desperate and unsupported claims.

The protections afforded to the citizens and the judiciary by Section 124's publication requirement are fundamental to our principles of government and to the method of checks and balances contained in our Constitution. The notice requirement is not a mere a procedural rule addressing solely the internal workings of the Governor's office; its protections and obligations are not "addressed to" and do not "end with" the Governor. See Presley v. Miss. State Highway Comm'n, 608 So. 2d 1288, 1297 (Miss. 1992) (superseded on a different point by Miss. Code § 11-46-6) (noting that the Legislature must follow constitutional procedures when enacting legislation and if "not done," the judiciary is "compelled to so declare."). Section 124 extends well beyond the Governor's office by placing obligations on the applicant and providing a protection to the citizens and judiciary. 12

¹² That Section 124 places burdens on those outside the Governor's office (the applicant) and protects those outside the Governor's office (the citizens and judiciary) undermines Appellants' previous citation to decisions in which the Court avoided becoming the procedural referee or parliamentarian within the legislative process. Cf. Ex parte Wren, 63 Miss. 512 (Miss. 1886) (declining to examine legislative journals to determine whether amendments approved by House and Senate were jettisoned from version of bill presented to governor); Hunt v. Wright, 11 So. 608 (1892) (abstaining from review of whether certain laws were enacted in accord with constitutional provisions where the laws' constitutional defects were not manifestly apparent); Tuck v. Blackmon, 798 So. 2d 402, 409 (Miss. 2001) (disclaiming authority to invalidate parliamentary ruling of state Senate's presiding officer when ruling was not "arbitrary" or "manifestly wrong"). Even in those cases the Court recognized its duty to enforce the constitution. Tuck observed that courts can strike down "manifestly wrong" legislative interpretations of constitutional restrictions on the lawmaking procedures. 798 So. 2d at 406. The Wright Court authorized judicial "disregard" of "[e]very act which bears on its face evidence of disregard of the constitution." 11 So. at 610. And this Court has invalidated statutes when the procedure for their adoption violated the Constitution, See, e.g., Presley, 608 So. 2d at 1298 (superseded on a different point by Miss. Code § 11-46-6). Indeed, just last year this Court reiterated that it will review whether the "form" required by the Constitution is followed and will do so to protect the public. Hughes v. Hosemann, 68 So. 3d 1260, 1264 (Miss. 2011) (discussing pre-election review of whether the amendment conforms to the form proscribed by the

Appellants' contention that the judiciary can review and enforce only those provisions of the Constitution that contain explicit reference to judicial review is similarly wrong. "Judicial review is a check that is not expressly granted by the Mississippi Constitution; it is an implied power." See James L. Robertson, 3 Mississippi Practice Series: Encyclopedia of Mississippi Law § 19:24 (Jeffrey Jackson and Mary Miller, eds., rev. 2011). No doubt the framers of the 1890 Constitution were aware of this implied power, as they convened nearly a century after Marbury v. Madison, 5 U.S. 137 (1803).

Appellants contend that "there is no express or implied remedy" for a violation of Section 124 of the Constitution. There is indeed a remedy. It is for a court to declare the pardons void, and there is plenty of precedent for such a declaratory judgment. See, e.g., Barbour v. Delta Corr. Facility Auth., 871 So. 2d 703 (Miss. 2004); Fordice v. Bryan, 651 So. 2d 998 (Miss. 1995); Holder v. State, 23 So. 643 (Miss. 1898). In each of these cases, this Court reviewed an act of the Governor and declared the act to be unconstitutional and "thus a nullity." See Delta Corr. Facility, 871 So. 2d at 711. Similarly, the pardons in today's case are nullities

Constitution).

¹³ Appellants previously argued that the only check on the Governor's granting of pardons in violation of the publication requirement was the "court of public opinion." It was not lost on the former Governor that fewer proper publications meant fewer citizens who knew of his planned pardons in advance. His actions stymied review in the court of public opinion just as Appellants' arguments now seek to stymie review in this Court.

¹⁴ Appellants wrongly claim that the Attorney General lacks standing to bring this action because he has suffered no particular harm. Standing in general is a broad concept in our law and requires only that the party have a "colorable interest in the subject matter of the litigation or experience an adverse effect from the conduct of the defendant . . . or as otherwise authorized by law." State ex rel. Moore v. Molpus, 578 So. 2d 624, 632 (Miss. 1991). The State of Mississippi, through the Attorney General, has a colorable interest and, separately, the Attorney General is authorized by law to sue. The Attorney General's interest in this case arises because of his "paramount" duty to protect the public. State ex rel. Allain v. Miss. Public Serv. Comm'n, 418 So. 2d 779, 782 (Miss. 1982). The Attorney General is authorized by law to conduct this

and void for failure to conform to the Constitution's requirements. See State ex rel. Maurer v. Sheward, 644 N.E.2d 369 (Ohio 1994) ("An attempted pardon that is granted without adherence to constitutionally authorized requirements is invalid"); see also Tolbert v. Southgate Timber Co., 943 So. 2d 90, 100 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) (there exists in our law "a remedy for every wrong").

Citing the principle that errors committed during a criminal trial may be deemed harmless, Appellants have previously asked this Court to extend that concept beyond all recognized bounds to declare the violation of Section 124 to be "so unimportant and insignificant" as to be unworthy of enforcement. It is difficult to see how the harmless-error doctrine, which is a judicially developed means for appellate courts to review actions of a trial court, applies to the issue before the Court today. It is the Constitution that gives a Governor his or her authority and, at the same time, limits the Governor's authority. *E.g.*, Miss. Const. art 5, § 124. That the framers of the 1890 Constitution explicitly added the publication requirement as a new limit on the Governor's pardon authority demonstrates that the framers considered it significant and important. The intense public outrage over former Governor Barbour's pardons demonstrates that the citizens of Mississippi do not consider the failure to provide them with their constitutionally protected notice to be unimportant and insignificant. Further, that the Governor exceeded his constitutional authority and intruded into the realm of the judiciary in

litigation as he has "the right to institute, conduct and maintain all suits necessary for the enforcement of the laws of the state, preservation of order and the protection of public rights." Gandy v. Reserve Life Ins. Co., 279 So. 2d 648, 649 (Miss. 1973). Without question, the pardoning of scores of felons, including convicted murderers, by former Governor Barbour is a matter of statewide interest. As was the case in State ex rel. Moore v. Molpus, "[t]here can be no serious doubt of the standing of the Attorney General, in his official capacity, to bring this action on behalf of the State of Mississippi." Molpus, 578 So. 2d at 632.

violation of the Separation of Powers doctrine is hardly an issue that this Court should declare to be unimportant or insignificant.

Finally, citing the lone dissenting justice in *Metts*, Appellants claim that if this Court affirms its well-established position that unconstitutional acts of the Governor are subject to judicial review and correction, this Court would be establishing "new law" that should be only prospective in application. Judicial review of a governor's acts is a hoary principle of our law. *See Broom*, 100 So. at 603. With respect to the *Metts* dissent, suffice it to say that dicta from dissents do not amount to binding "law." *Lee v. Memorial Hosp. at Gulfport*, 999 So. 2d 1263, 1266 at n.3 (Miss. 2008). When this Court reviews the constitutionality of the pardons, the *Metts* dissent will retain as much precedential effect as it does currently — none. It is accordingly frivolous to assert that some "new principle of law" would arise from the ashes of Ethridge's opinion. Moreover, an opinion stating that the judiciary will review whether pardons were issued in violation of the Constitution would not change the substantive law pertaining to pardons set forth in Section 124. Appellants cannot be heard to claim a due process harm by the mere fact that a Court will determine whether *existing law* has been followed.

- IV. The plain meaning of the phrase "published for thirty days" has repeatedly been held to require that publication begin at least thirty days before the event, and to require inclusion of the notice in each issue of the newspaper (whether daily or weekly) during that thirty-day period.
 - A. When the framers utilize precise requirements, such as "published for thirty days," the terms must be applied as written.

A constitutional provision's specific language must be faithfully and strictly construed.

As this Court has explained,

when a strict interpretation of the Constitution, according to the fixed rules which govern the interpretation of laws, is abandoned, and the theoretical opinions of individuals are allowed to control its meaning, we have no longer a Constitution; we are under the government of individual men, who for the time being have

power to declare what the Constitution is, according to their own views of what it ought to mean.

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